

# Policy handbook Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance (MVHI-Qatar)

HEALTH INSURANCE



# Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance Policy Wording

# Table of contents

1.	Purpose of this Policy	2
2.	Scope and Applicability	2
3.	Acronyms, Terms, and Definitions	3
4.	Policy Statement	13
5.	Procedures for Obtaining Benefits	17
6.	Recovery of Claims	19
7.	Continuation of care	19
8.	Healthcare Services Coverage	19
9.	Validity of Coverage under the Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance	21
10.	General Provisions	22
A1	Appendix (1): MVHI Schedule of Benefits	24
A2	Appendix (2) Standard MVHI Policy Exclusions	26



#### **1. Purpose of this Policy**

- **1.1.** Set the rights and obligations between the Insurance Company and any Policy Holder or Visitor / Beneficiary participating in the Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance (MVHI).
- **1.2.** Create a comprehensive reference document defining the MVHI Scheme and familiarize the involved parties with the terms and conditions thereof.

#### 2. Scope and Applicability

- 2.1. The Policy Wording document shall inform key stakeholders about essential elements of the MVHI with respect to Accident & Emergency Care medical services covered under the MVHI Policy.
- 2.2. This document is applicable to all registered National Insurance Companies, Healthcare Providers, Health Insurance Brokers, and Third-party Administrators legitimately participating in the MVHI.



# 3. Acronyms, Terms, and Definitions

1.	ACCIDENT	<ul> <li>Accident means a sudden, unexpected, unusual, specific, violent, external event, which occurs at a single identifiable time and place and independently of all other causes and results directly, immediately and solely in physical bodily injury causing damage and/or a loss.</li> <li>The following medical conditions shall also be construed to be Accidents: <ul> <li>a. Asphyxia or Injuries due to exposure to gases or vapors, immersion, or submersion, or from the consumption of liquid or solid matter other than foodstuffs.</li> <li>b. Infections resulting from any Accident Covered by the Policy.</li> <li>c. Injuries that are a consequence of surgical procedures or medical treatments resulting from any</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
		procedures or medical treatments resulting from an Accident Covered by the policy.
2.	ACCIDENT- RELATED DENTAL TREATMENT	Medical Expenses associated with any necessary dental treatment by a dentist, provided that the dental treatment is required as a result of an Accident incurred during the validity of the Policy-for accidental damage to natural teeth within one month of the Accident. Accidental damage to healthy natural teeth is Covered for initial pain relief and for any treatment necessary to preserve the dental structure for future permanent restoration of damage to such healthy natural teeth.
3.	AGGREGATE (POLICY) LIMIT	Maximum payable amount by any Insurance Company per Beneficiary per Policy duration for the Covered Healthcare Services.
4.	APPEAL	Any challenge by one or more legitimate stakeholder(s)/ participant(s) in the MVHI to any final decision of the HFID in its role as the Regulator of the scheme, as per due MOPH Appeals Process defined in the Appeals Policy and Procedure.
5.	BENEFICIARY OF THE MVHI (BENEFICIARY)	Every Visitor to the State of Qatar holding a valid Health Insurance Policy that covers, at minimum, the Healthcare Services under the MVHI Scheme.
6.	CHRONIC CONDITION	A disease, sickness or injury that has one or more of the following characteristics:



		<ul> <li>a. Requires on-going or long-term monitoring through consultations, examinations, check-ups and/or tests.</li> <li>b. Requires on-going or long-term control or relief of symptoms.</li> <li>c. Requires special training of the patient as part of his or her rehabilitation.</li> <li>d. Continues indefinitely.</li> <li>e. Relapses or is medically very likely to recur.</li> </ul>
7.	CLAIM	An invoice in a defined format which includes all mandatory data elements as stipulated in the Insurance Data Set (IDS) submitted to the Beneficiary's Insurance Company or appointed TPA by the Provider, the Beneficiary, or the Insurance Policy Holder for the purpose of receiving payment for the value of delivered healthcare service included in the Beneficiary's Insurance Policy Coverage.
8.	CONGENITAL ANOMALY	Anatomical or physiological defect, disease, or malformation, which may be either hereditary/ familial/ genetic or due to an influence occurring during gestation up to birth, and may or may not be obvious at birth
9.	COPAYMENT AND DEDUCTIBLES	Fixed amount of money or percentage of the cost of Healthcare Services that the beneficiary shall pay to the Provider upon receiving Covered Healthcare Services, in accordance with the Law and Regulation.
10.	COVERAGE	<ul> <li>Entitlement of a Beneficiary to Health Services provided under MVHI subject to the terms, conditions, limits, eligibility of that person and the exclusion criteria of the MVHI Policy. Health services must be provided: <ol> <li>while the Policy is in effect; and</li> <li>prior to the date that any termination conditions occur</li> </ol> </li> </ul>
11.	COVERED HEALTHCARE SERVICES OR SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS	Catalogue of Healthcare Services (Schedule of Benefits (SOB)), which the Beneficiaries of the MVHI are entitled.
12.	DAY CARE TREATMENT	Any medical treatment, which must be provided in a health care facility licensed to perform such care, and which requires hospital admission for less than 24 hours.
13.	DISPUTE	Any conflict arising between legitimate stakeholders/ participants in the MVHI, and officially escalated to the HFID (Complaint and Dispute Resolution Committee), that



		cannot be resolved by the concerned parties among
		themselves.
14.	EFFECTIVE DATE	The date, on which Coverage under the MVHI commences
	<b>OF THE POLICY</b>	based on the Visitor's time of arrival in the State of Qatar.
15.	ELIGIBLE EXPENSES	Reasonable and customary charges for Covered Healthcare Services incurred by the Beneficiary while his/her Policy is in effect.
16.	EMERGENCY CONDITION	A medical condition or injury that jeopardizes a person's life or any of the bodily organs of that person, requiring immediate intervention to save his/her life or his/her injured organ".
17.	EMERGENCY EVACUATION (TO COUNTRY OF RESIDENCE)	Transportation of any MVHI-Beneficiary incapacitated and unfit to travel due to Accident or acute medical Emergency during his/her visit to the State of Qatar, but stable enough for transportation under 24/7 medical supervision back to his/her country of residence based on referral by the treating clinician at a Qatari public provider and consent of the MVHI-Beneficiary (or his/her next of kin if incapacitated). Such Emergency Evacuations are Covered by the MVHI-Policy up to the applicable Sublimit and Aggregate Policy Limit.
18.	EXPATRIATE	Every non-Qatari individual who enters the country for any purpose
19.	EXPIRY/ END DATE OF THE POLICY	The last day, month, and year of validity of any MVHI Policy as set out in the Policy Schedule at 23:59 Qatar time. When the Policy comes to an end (expires), all Coverage under this Policy ceases.
20.	FRAUD	Any deliberate act of deception, misrepresentation, false statement, or false representation of material facts, regardless of success, by a party to this Agreement which has as its purpose the objective of (1) obtaining a financial or other benefit or advantage relating to health insurance under this Agreement; and/or (2) causing or exposing another person a financial or other loss or disadvantage related to the operation of this Agreement. It includes any act that constitutes fraud under applicable laws and their interpretation by the courts in the State of Qatar.
21.	GENERAL	Healthcare services and other Benefits excluded from
	EXCLUSIONS	Coverage under the MVHI policy.



22.	HEALTHCARE SERVICES	Set of medical services to be provided to the Beneficiaries in accordance with the provisions of the Law and the
		pertaining regulations.
23.	HEALTH FINANICNG AND INSURANCE DEPARTMENT (HFID)	The Competent Department of the MOPH which is responsible for the regulation of the Mandatory Health Insurance Scheme as per The Law, The Amiri Decree No. (36) of 2022 Concerning the Organization Structure of the MOPH and Article (70) of the Regulation.
24.	HEALTH INSURANCE BROKER	Any person or legal entity that markets/advertises and/or sells insurance policies in return for a financial consideration in accordance with the provisions of The Law and The Regulation.
25.	HEALTH INSURANCE CARD	The Card, or its equivalence, as issued by the Insurance Company in accordance with the Insurance Policy. Equivalent Identity Verification documents include valid Qatar Identification Cards (QID) and valid Passports.
26.	HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUM	The amount/money paid to an insurance company for providing MVHI Coverage to a Visitor to the State of Qatar during the term of the insurance policy in accordance with the provisions of the Law and the pertaining Regulation
27.	HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONAL	Any Healthcare practitioner of medicine who is duly licensed by the MoPH's Department of Healthcare Practitioners (DHP) qualified under the laws of the State of Qatar and registered through his/her healthcare facility to participate in the MHIS.
28.	HEALTHCARE SERVICES	Any medical services delivered by a licensed Healthcare Provider in the State of Qatar
29.	HEALTH SERVICE PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT (HSPA)	The Agreement between licensed Providers and the Strategic planning and Performance Department of the MOPH, which commits Providers to report quality of care and outcomes-related information to MOPH as per a defined reporting schedule. HSPA is a key pre-requisite for registration of Provider who wish to participate in the MHIS.
30.	HOSPITAL	A healthcare service providing institution licensed by MOPH to provide inpatient and/or Day Care Health Services and ambulatory Health Services (outpatient) within the State of Qatar.
31.	HOSPITALIZA- TION; HOSPITAL ADMISSION	An admission to a Hospital is a process whereby the Hospital accepts responsibility for the patient's care and/or treatment. Admission follows a clinical decision based upon



		specified criteria that a patient requires same-day or overnight [or multi-day] inpatient care or treatment
32.	HOSPITALIZATIO N CLASS/ACCOMMO DATION TYPE	Class of Hospital room and associated non-medical "hotel" services, to which the Beneficiary is entitled to during the admission.
33.	INJURY	Accidental physical bodily harm, excluding Illness or disease solely and directly caused by external, violent, and visible and evident means, which is verified and certified by a licensed and authorized Medical Practitioner.
34.	INPATIENT	Beneficiary Admitted to a Hospital overnight or multi-day for medical or surgical services.
35.	INSURANCE COMPANY	Any Insurance Company that is registered with HFID to carry out health insurance business in the State of Qatar in accordance with the provisions of The Law and The Regulation.
36.	INSURANCE DATA SET (IDS)	The set of data elements that need to be submitted by the Provider to the Insurance Company/TPA to obtain reimbursement of their claims, and the set of data elements that the Insurance Company/TPA needs to communicate back to the Provider as part of the Remittance Advice under Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance Scheme, as mandated by the HFID. For the first phase that covers Visitors of the State of Qatar a subset of the IDS will be used for the mentioned purposes.
37.	INSURANCE POLICY (POLICY)	The contractual document issued by an Insurance Company specifying the Coverage of Healthcare Services for the Policy Holder or the Beneficiaries, including the terms, conditions, Exclusions, and limitations of the MVHI Coverage.
38.	LAW	Law No. (22) of 2021 Regulating the Healthcare Services Within the State of Qatar.
39.	MEDICALLY NECESSARY; MEDICAL NECESSITY	<ul> <li>Health care services and consumables, which are:</li> <li>(a) Consistent with the diagnosis of the Beneficiary's medical condition; and</li> <li>(b) Necessary to meet the health care needs of any Beneficiary as per the SOB for the MVHI; and</li> <li>(c) Rendered in the most Medically Appropriate manner and type of setting appropriate for the delivery of the Healthcare Service, considering both cost and quality of care; and</li> </ul>



		<ul> <li>(d) Consistent in type, frequency, and duration of treatment with scientific/evidence-based guidelines and current medical opinion and/or the MOPH; and</li> <li>e) Required for reasons other than the convenience of the Beneficiary or his/her Physician; and</li> <li>(f) Demonstrated through prevailing peer-reviewed medical literature to be safe and effective and efficient for treating or diagnosing the condition or Sickness for which their use is proposed</li> <li>(g) When specifically applied to in-patient treatment, "medically necessary" also means that a diagnosis cannot be made, or treatment cannot be safely and effectively provided in an ambulatory setting.</li> </ul>
40.	MEDICAL	Medical Malpractice refers to any instance of gross
	MALPRACTICE	professional negligence, by act or omission, by a Provider, in which the treatment provided falls below the accepted clinical guidelines/protocols/quality standards of practice in the medical community and causes injury or death to the patient.
41.	MEDICAL RECORD	A chronological written (or electronic) account of a patient's medical examination(s) and treatment(s) that includes the patient's medical history and complaints, the physician's physical findings, the results of diagnostic tests and procedures, and the prescribed medications and therapeutic procedures. As per the MOPH definition, essential requirements of the Medical Record include only English or Arabic language, structure/format, type (physical/electronic), systematic archiving methodology (in-house/out-house) & type (physical/electronic), access rights of the MOPH, HFID, and Insurance Companies/TPAs, and validity, maintenance, and preservation of such Medical Records as per applicable Qatari laws and regulations. Any Claim duly submitted by any Provider also constitutes a Medical Record.
42.	MANDATORY VISITOR HEALTH INSURANCE	A selection of Mandatory Health Insurance policies, varying only by duration of Coverage, that Visitors coming to the State of Qatar are obliged to purchase, which cover Emergency medical services for any accidental injury or acute life-threatening sickness that occurs during the term of the Policy, during the stay of the Visitor in the State of Qatar.



	MENTAL ILLNESS	Health conditions involving changes in emotion, thinking or behavior (or a combination of these). Mental illnesses can be associated with distress and/or problems functioning in social, work, or family activities.
44.	MULTIPLE ENTRY VISITORS' INSURANCE	Mandatory Visitors Health Insurance covering Accident & Emergency Care for two or more trips to the State of Qatar provided such trips fall within the period, for which the MVHI Policy is valid.
45.	NON- EMERGENCY/ ELECTIVE HOSPI- TALIZATION	Any planned Hospital Admission which is not related to any Accident or acute medical Emergency.
46.	OUT-OF- NETWORK SERVICES	Services sought by a Beneficiary outside the Provider Network. Such medical services are Covered only in veritable life-threatening medical emergencies until the condition of the Beneficiary has been stabilized.
47.	OUTPATIENT	A patient treated at any healthcare facility without admission or confinement. Such services may include physician consultation(s), Outpatient procedure(s), prescription of medication(s), diagnostic testing including pre-operative investigations which do not require Inpatient or Same Day services, or physiotherapy.
48.	OUTPATIENT BENEFITS	Healthcare Services covered in the outpatient setting, such as physician consultation(s), diagnostic test(s) including preoperative investigations, prescribed medication(s), physiotherapy, and dental treatments conducted in an outpatient setting without jeopardizing the Beneficiary's health, or which do not require hospitalization/day treatment or necessitate specialized medical attention and care in a hospital before, during or after the delivery of the service.
49.	PATIENT ENCOUNTER	A set of Healthcare Services provided to a Beneficiary on account of a specific single visit to a Provider.
50.	PERIOD OF COVERAGE; DURATION OF COVERAGE	The period during which a beneficiary under the MVHI Policy is covered for Benefit specified in his/her Policy, i.e., from the Effective Date to the Policy Expiry Date.
51.	POLICY EXPIRY	Policy Expiry Date means the date and time after which the Policy is no longer valid as defined in the Policy.
52.	POLICY WORDING	This document, which states all the contractual terms between Beneficiaries and the Health Insurance Company.



53.	ON	An action taken by the Insurance Company or the TPA if applicable to permit a Provider to deliver specified healthcare services to a Beneficiary under Coverage of his/her Health Insurance Policy.
54.	PRE-EXISTING CONDITION	Any known injury, illness, sickness, disease or other physical, medical, mental, or nervous condition, disorder, or ailment that with reasonable medical certainty existed at the time of the Beneficiaries' Application for Health Insurance Coverage was made, whether previously manifested or symptomatic, diagnosed, treated or disclosed prior to the Effective Date, including any subsequent, chronic or recurring complications or consequences related thereto or arising there from.
55.	PRESCRIPTION DRUGS	Pharmaceuticals, which can only be obtained through a written prescription issued by a licensed physician and dispensed by a licensed pharmacy/pharmacist.
56.	PRIMARY HEALTHCARE	Essentially (except in cases requiring Emergency or Urgent Care), the first point of contact of any Beneficiary with the healthcare provision system. Primary Healthcare Providers, whether public or private, treat eligible patients for common illnesses, manage and follow up long-term conditions, and provide preventative healthcare services through providing medical advice, immunization, and disease screening programs. Primary Healthcare Services are generally availed in non-hospital settings by General Practitioners/Family Medicine Specialists, where necessary supported by a team of Nurses and/or allied Healthcare Practitioners. Some frequently sought specialty service lines (such as, but not limited to ENT, Ophthalmology, Dermatology, Paediatrics, routine Gynaecology) may also be provided at primary care facilities. Primary care physicians serve as "Gate-keepers" to higher levels of care by issuing referrals based on medical necessity and urgency criteria. Healthcare professionals who work in primary care are generalists rather than specialists.
57.	PRE- REGISTRATION	An essential first step for Healthcare Provider, Insurance Companies, and TPAs to obtaining registration to participate in the Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance scheme from HFID, which ensures that all pre-requisites



		are available to the applying Entity before proceeding with
		the main Registration application.
58.	PROSTHESIS	Artificial device, either external or implanted, which
		substitutes for, or supplements a missing or defective part
		of the body (e.g., artificial limbs or pacemakers)
59.	PROVIDER	Names and addresses of all licensed Healthcare Providers
	NETWORK	(governmental / non-governmental) registered to provide
		Covered Healthcare Services to the Beneficiaries in the
		State of Qatar in accordance with The Law and contracted
		by The Insurance Company to enable its Beneficiaries to
		access such services at defined prices and bill the Insurance Company or its TPA directly for such medical services
		without requiring the Beneficiaries to make any payments
		upfront.
60.	PROVIDER	The Agreement which sets forth the terms and conditions
	NETWORK	under which any Provider registered to participate in the
	AGREEMENT	MHIS shall receive payment from the registered Insurance
	(``PNA")	Company issuing a MVHI Policy in return for providing
		Covered Healthcare Services to the Beneficiaries, as
		defined in SOB and subject to The Law, and other pertinent
		regulation, and amendments thereto, under the jurisdiction
		of the State of Qatar, particularly of the MOPH.
61.		Governmental Healthcare Facilities, and licensed Private
	HEALTHCARE	Healthcare Facilities that provide Healthcare Service, in
	SERVICE	accordance with applicable laws.
<u> </u>	PROVIDER	The witten descent issued by the Insurance Conservation
62.	-	The written document issued by the Insurance Company
	MANUAL	/TPA which outlines key administrative procedures and requirements that the Providers must have in place to
		comply with the terms and conditions of the PNA signed
		between the mentioned two parties.
63.	REASONABLE	The average of the net cost to be paid to a non-network
	AND CUSTOMARY	Provider that provided Covered Healthcare Services to an
	CHARGES/	MVHI-Beneficiary. Such cost should be based on the
	EXPENSES	Insurance Companies'/TPA's network prices.
64.	RECREATIONAL	Any type of therapy that uses defined patient activities and
	TREATMENT	tasks to help meet the physical and emotional needs of the
		patients with respect to any illness or disability and help
		them develop skills for daily living. Such Recreational
		Treatments may include arts and crafts, music, spending
		time with animals, sports, and drama.



65. 66.		Registration of Healthcare Providers, Insurance Companies, Third Party Administrators, and Health Insurance Brokers with the HFID to participate in the MHIS in accordance with provisions of The Law, Regulation, Health Insurance Registration policy and Procedure issued by the HFID. Resolution of the Minister of Public Health (MOPH) No. (8) of 2022 promulgating the Executive Regulations of the Law
67.	REIMBURSEMENT	The act of compensating a Visitor or Beneficiary for an <u>out-of-pocket expense</u> related to a Covered healthcare service received, by repaying an amount of money equal to what was paid to the healthcare provider in cash to the Beneficiary, or equivalent to the reasonable and customary expenses for the service under claim.
68.	REPATRIATION OF MORTAL REMAINS	In the event of the death of the Beneficiary during the MVHI Coverage, the Health Insurer will make the necessary arrangements for the transportation or repatriation of the body of the deceased and shall meet the cost of the transfer expenses up to the applicable Sublimit, to his/her usual Country of Residence. Any payment of expenses for interment, cremation or funeral ceremony is excluded from Coverage.
69.	SAME DAY PATIENT	A patient who is admitted and discharged on the same day.
70.	SECONDARY HEALTHCARE	Secondary healthcare services are usually delivered in a general hospital, daycare centre, or specialist clinic. Such medical services may include planned "elective" surgical procedures and other medical services characteristically requiring patient admission for an appropriate length of time, outpatient follow-up consultations provided in specialist clinics or rehabilitation settings.
71.	SINGLE ENTRY VISA	Valid for one trip to the State of Qatar.
72.	SUBLIMIT	Maximum amount payable by an Insurance Company/TPA per Beneficiary for any defined individual (or set of) Covered Healthcare Services under the terms of the Insurance Policy.
73.	TERTIARY HEALTHCARE	Tertiary healthcare categorizes specialized consultative healthcare services (including complex surgical and microinvasive procedures as well as specific medication therapies), which are delivered by appropriately licensed and privileged consultant or specialist physicians, usually



		require inpatient admission, and are provided only on referral of a Primary or Secondary healthcare professional only. Tertiary healthcare facility has personnel and medical equipment for advanced medical investigations, treatment, and surgery.
74.	THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATOR (TPA)	An organization duly appointed by an Insurance company to provide administrative services on behalf of the Insurance company including but not limited to Claims management, claims review, adjudication, and payment, Claims utilization review, maintenance of adherent records (eligibility and medical follow-up), and post-payment auditing of Claims.
75.	VISITOR	Any non-Qatari individual entering the State of Qatar for neither residence nor work purposes.
76.	WAITING (ELGIBILITY) PERIOD	A period starting from the Enrolment Date of the Covered Person during which a specified medical condition or type of treatment shall not be Covered under a health insurance Policy. MVHI products shall not be subject to any such "Waiting Period".
77.	WASTE	Overutilization of medical services, or other practices that directly or indirectly, result in unnecessary costs to the Insurance Company. Waste refers to incidental, non- deliberate over-use or misuse of resources.

### **4. Policy Statement**

- **4.1.** As per Qatar's Health Insurance Law and Regulation, it is mandatory for all Visitors to the State of Qatar to purchase one of the available MVHI products, under which any Accident and acute medical Emergency-related treatment is Covered as per the MVHI Schedule of Benefits. Beneficiaries may opt for add-ons to the Covered Benefits in addition to their MVHI products to expand their scope of Covered non-Accident or Emergency condition related medical services for an additional add-on premium.
- **4.2.** Coverage is subject to the policy terms and conditions set out here along with the terms, Aggregate Limit and Sub limits set out in the Schedule of Benefits (appendix 1) and Exclusions (Appendix 2) and any other terms as may be issued



by the HFID. Coverage is also subject to the full payment of the due premium for the appropriate MVHI product selected by the Visitor to the State of Qatar.

#### 4.3. Effective Date of the Policy:

Accident and acute medical Emergency-related Care Coverage as per the terms and conditions of the MVHI Policy shall become effective on the date and time the Beneficiary arrives at the State of Qatar.

#### 4.4. Expiry of the Policy:

The MVHI Policy (unless terminated by the Insurance Company with immediate effect for breach of the Terms of the MVHI Policy) shall expire upon exit of the Visitor from the State of Qatar (in case of single-entry visa) or else at the End Date of coverage of the Policy at 23:59 Qatar time. When the Policy comes to an end, all Coverage under this Policy shall end.

#### 4.5. Insurance Cover Validation:

Validation of MVHI Coverage shall be based on the information provided to the Insurance Company by or on behalf of the Beneficiary, which represents the basis of the contract between the Visitor and the selected Insurance Company. Any nondisclosure or wrong disclosure of material facts therein shall invalidate the MVHI Coverage, and no Benefits under the Policy shall be payable.

#### 4.6. Accidents & Emergencies:

While the MVHI Policy is in force, if the Beneficiary contracts any emergency or accident during his/her stay in the State of Qatar, and if such event requires the Beneficiary to incur expenses for Medically Necessary Treatment, the Insurance Company or its appointed TPA shall Cover the Beneficiary for such Charges up to the Aggregate Limit and Sublimits applicable as per the terms and conditions of the MVHI Policy purchased by the Beneficiary or on his/her behalf.

#### 4.7. (Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance) or MVHI Schedule of Benefits:

These are the Healthcare Services that are legitimately Covered under the MVHI Policy up to an Aggregate Limit as well as healthcare service specific Sublimit. The Covered Medically Necessary Accident & Emergency care and treatment must be based on the advice and prescriptions of a qualified and licensed Medical Practitioner. Any Healthcare Services not specified in the Schedule of Benefits are not Covered under the MVHI Policy. Beneficiaries shall examine their Policy carefully to make sure they understand what medical services they have access to.



#### 4.8. Amendment of the Schedule of Benefits:

The MVHI Coverage may be modified by a decision of the HFID from time to time, as deemed necessary.

#### 4.9. Governance of the Policy:

The Policy will be governed by the laws of the State of Qatar. The Policy is executed in Arabic and English languages.

#### 4.10. Translation of the Policy:

Any translation of the Policy into a language other than Arabic and English shall exist only for the convenience of the parties. However, in case of a disparity between the Arabic and the English version, the Arabic version shall prevail.

#### 4.11. Eligibility:

- 4.11.1. **Eligibility:** Any category of Visitor coming to the State of Qatar on a visit visa as per The Law and The Regulation.
- 4.11.2. **Waiting period:** No waiting (or Eligibility) period is to be applied at the start of the MVHI Policy. Coverage for Accident & acute medical Emergency-related medical or surgical Healthcare Services begins immediately.
- 4.11.3. **Pre-existing conditions, Chronic Conditions and Congenital anomalies:** pre-existing medical conditions and congenital anomalies are not Covered under the MVHI Policy. However, any acute exacerbation of a chronic disease necessitating any acute medical Emergency related healthcare intervention shall be covered.
- 4.11.4. **Co-payments and Deductibles:** No Deductible, Co-payment, or any kind of financial contribution from the MVHI Beneficiary shall be required for the Covered Healthcare Services under this policy unless the patient exceeds the Aggregate Limit or the Sub-limit applicable to any required specific Healthcare Service.
- 4.11.5. The Insurance Company/TPA will pay the costs of the Medically Necessary treatments and interventions, occurring during the Period of Coverage, resulting from any Accident or acute medical Emergency on behalf of any Beneficiary Covered under this Policy, subject to the Policy terms and conditions. Any kind of non-medical service is a standard Policy Exclusion.



#### 4.12. End of the MVHI Policy

The MVHI Policy and all Coverage of Benefits under the MVHI Policy shall end on the earliest of the dates specified below:

- 4.12.1. In case of a single-entry Visitor visa, the Policy shall end once the Beneficiary exits the State of Qatar, or the MVHI Policy expires as specified in the Policy, or if the Aggregate Limit has been exhausted, whichever arises earlier.
- 4.12.2. In case of a multi-entry Visitor visa, the MVHI Policy shall terminate when the Expiry Date specified in the Policy has been reached, or if the Aggregate Policy Limit has been exhausted, whichever arises earlier.
- 4.12.3. In case of the termination of any MVHI-Policy by the Insurance Company due to one or more verified violation(s) of the MVHI terms and conditions by the Beneficiary, Coverage shall cease on the date communicated by the Insurance Company to the Beneficiary in writing. Such violation-based termination may be triggered by the Insurance Company due to evidenced fraud, abuse, or misrepresentation (i.e., if the Beneficiary knowingly provided the Insurance Company with false information in conjunction with purchasing or utilizing the Coverage under the Policy).
- 4.12.4. In case of amendments to The Law or Regulation, that make it impossible for the Insurance Company to continue providing MVHI Coverage, on the accordingly revised date specified by HFID or the Insurance Company on which the MVHI Policy will terminate.
- 4.12.5. On the date specified by the Insurance Company, upon approval of the HFID, in written notice to the Beneficiary that this Policy shall be terminated, due to non-compliance of the Beneficiary with the terms and conditions of MVHI Scheme.

#### 4.12.6. Obligations of the Insurance Company on Termination or End/Expiry of the Policy.

Expiry of the MVHI Policy or end of the Coverage due to termination for breach shall not affect any legitimate Claim from a Healthcare Provider for reimbursement of Covered Healthcare Services rendered before the date of expiry/termination. If the Eligible Person is hospitalized on the termination date of the Coverage, hospital charges for that continuous period of Hospitalization shall be paid under the MVHI Policy according to the Benefits and applicable limitations of the Policy until discharge



as per the normal length of stay attributable to the package price for the rendered inpatient treatment.

# 4.12.7. Obligations of the Beneficiary on Termination of the Policy or Coverage:

The MVHI-Beneficiary shall be liable for any claims for Health Services received by the Beneficiary to be initiated after the date following the End Date or Expiry of the Policy.

# **5. Procedures for Obtaining Benefits**

# 5.1. Rendering of covered Accident & Emergency related medical services to the Beneficiary:

- 5.1.1. Medical services will be provided to Beneficiaries up to the Aggregate Limit and/or the applicable Sublimit (whichever is exhausted first) of the MVHI Policy. Beneficiaries shall not be required to pay any amount out of pocket for utilizing services within the applicable Coverage Aggregate Policy Limit and Sublimit. Should the Aggregate Policy Limit or an applicable Sublimit be exhausted the Patient shall be liable to pay any excess amounts due.
- 5.1.2. Beneficiaries may contact the customer care channels/center of the Insurance Company to ask for the location of the nearest network Healthcare Provider where the needed Covered Healthcare Services could be delivered.

#### 5.2. Verification of Coverage Status of the Beneficiary:

- 5.2.1. On presentation at any Accident and Emergency Department of any Healthcare Provider in the State of Qatar, the Visitor shall be obliged to furnish a valid passport to prove his/her eligibility for Coverage.
- 5.2.2. The Beneficiary must show his/her passport every time he/she seeks to utilize any Covered Healthcare Services.
- 5.2.3. In case the passport of the Beneficiary is not available at the time of Emergency visit at the Healthcare Provider, it may be furnished by the Beneficiary or if he/she is incapacitated, by a family member or friend prior to his/her discharge.



5.2.4. In the event of non-compliance, or failure to furnish a valid Passport, or expiry of the Visitor's Policy, the Beneficiary shall be required to pay for the Health Services obtained directly to the Provider. However, pursuant to Article (19/5) of the Law the patient presenting in Emergency conditions shall be stabilized first. If there are grounds to assume retrospectively that the Beneficiary was eligible for Coverage at the time of service, then the Beneficiary may subsequently submit a claim for reimbursement to the Insurance Company or its appointed TPA as per the Insurance Company's/TPA's reimbursement policy within thirty [30] days of receiving such Covered Healthcare Services.

#### 5.3. **Pre-Authorization**

- 5.3.1. The MVHI Policy does not require Pre-authorization for any Covered Accident & Emergency related Healthcare Services. However, all providers admitting beneficiaries of the MVHI, are required to notify the patient's Insurance Company/TPA within twenty-four [24] hours of admission.
- 5.3.2. Any follow-up ambulatory visits of the MVHI Beneficiary to the Healthcare Provider, Medically necessitated in consequence of, or to complete the initially rendered Accident or acute medical Emergency-related Healthcare Services within seven [7] working days of the initial visit shall be considered as Covered under the "package" payment for the initial Emergency presentation. Any such follow-up visits more than seven [7] working days after the initial Accident or acute medical Emergency visit shall require prior authorization by the Insurance Company or its appointed TPA.

#### 5.4. Direct Billing

The MVHI Policy provides Coverage of eligible expenses on direct billing for any Medically Necessary Accident & acute medical Emergency-related healthcare services at any network Healthcare Provider, subject to the terms, conditions, exclusions, and limitations of the Policy and the PNA signed between the Insurance Company and the Provider. Eligible expenses for Accident and Emergency related healthcare services are the fees agreed between the Insurance Company issuing the MVHI-Policy and the Network Healthcare Provider for the Covered Health Services provided as part of any Accident and Emergency related treatments. Such Health Services must be Medically Necessary and shall be continued until the patient's medical condition has been stabilized and the patient can be discharged from Healthcare Provider I.

#### 5.5. Non-Network Providers



In case any MVHI Beneficiary seeks Accident or acute medical Emergency related healthcare services at a non-Network Provider, such Non-Network Providers are entitled to payment for their Covered duly delivered Medically Necessary and delivered Healthcare Services from the Beneficiary's Insurance Company/TPA. Such payments shall be based on Reasonable and Customary cost of the Insurance Companies'/TPA's network prices, which should not exceed the discounted prices offered to Insurance Companies by the Public Providers.

# 6. Recovery of Claims:

The Beneficiary is liable to repay the Insurance Company any claims paid by the Insurance Company which were obtained by means of fraudulent use of the Covered Healthcare Services.

# 7. Continuation of care:

Under the MVHI Policy, a Beneficiary is not entitled to coverage for continuation of care after his/her medical Emergency condition has subsided or has been effectively stabilized, for any kind of maintenance or rehabilitation treatment or post discharge medication unless such essential medical treatment is required to prevent immediate recurrence of any life-threatening Emergency condition during the remaining stay of the Beneficiary in the State of Qatar.

# 8. Healthcare Services Coverage:

The applicable Coverage per Beneficiary is set forth in the Schedule of Benefits, which defines the Coverage provided to the Beneficiary by specifying the Covered healthcare services, the applicable Aggregate Policy Limit and Sublimits, any specific exclusions, and any special terms applicable at the level of service or benefit, Network and Territory of Cover.

#### 8.1. **Aggregate Limit:**

The total MVHI Aggregate Policy Limit in sum of all utilized Healthcare Services is set at QAR 150,000. This defines the aggregated maximum Coverage the Insurance Company is liable for in total during the MVHI Policy's validity (see Schedule of Benefits – Appendix 1 for more details).

#### 8.2. **Emergency Transportation by Ambulance**



Ambulance transportation, Accident and Emergency related Medical Assistance, Evacuation of incapacitated MVHI members to the Beneficiary's country of residence, and Repatriation of Mortal Remains.

#### 8.3. Accident and Emergency related Medical Assistance:

- 8.3.1. The Accident and Emergency related medical assistance Benefits of the MVHI Policy additionally Covers where Medically Necessary the Emergency transportation under continuous medical supervision ("Evacuation") of any eligible incapacitated MVHI Member's country of residence, up to a sublimit of QAR 35,000 per Policy period.
- 8.3.2. Where medically necessary, and the Beneficiary is deemed "unfit to fly" but "stable for Medical Evacuation" such an Emergency Evacuation must be initiated by the treating healthcare provider by submitting a request to the Beneficiary's MVHI-Policy issuing Insurance Company.
- 8.3.3. Precondition for such an Emergency Medical Evacuation is the written informed consent of the Beneficiary or if incapacitated, of his/her authorized next of kin.
- 8.3.4. Prior authorization by the Insurance Company shall depend upon the sufficiency of the remaining Coverage balance in consideration of the Beneficiary's Aggregate MVHI Policy Limit and the applicable Sublimit for Emergency Assistance (of QAR 35,000). Where the remaining balance does not suffice, the Insurance Company shall only be obliged to Cover the Cost of such an Emergency Evacuation up to the remaining Aggregate Policy Limit or Sublimit balance has been consumed (whichever comes first).
- 8.3.5. In the event that the Beneficiary or his/her next of kin (in case of incapacitation of the Beneficiary) refuses medically feasible Emergency Evacuation, the Insurance Company shall duly notify the Beneficiary or his/her next of kin that the Insurance Company shall bear no liability for any further medical cost arising beyond the Aggregate Policy Limit, and that the liability for such excess medical cost shall be entirely on the Beneficiary and his estate.

#### 8.4. **Death and Repatriation of Mortal Remains**:

8.4.1. Coverage for Accident or acute medical Emergency-related Healthcare Services ends automatically at the time of death of any MVHI Beneficiary.



- 8.4.2. However, the MVHI Member's mortal remains shall be repatriated to his/her country of residence at the request of the Member's authorized next of kin.
- 8.4.3. Repatriation of mortal remains is Covered up to a MVHI Sublimit of QAR 10,000.
- 8.4.4. Any arising expenses for interment, cremation or funeral ceremony are excluded from MVHI Coverage.

#### 8.5. **Covid-19 and Quarantine:**

- 8.5.1. Beneficiaries testing positive for Covid-19 during their stay in the State of Qatar are covered for outpatient treatment and hotel quarantine up to an amount of QAR 300 per day for mild cases, inpatient treatment for severe cases, and a day-7 rapid antigen test for all cases, applying a Sublimit of QAR 50,000 per MVHI Policy.
- 8.5.2. Quarantine Cover: In case a Beneficiary is infected with Covid-19 during a visit to the State of Qatar and Covered by the MVHI Policy, the Policy shall Cover the expenses incurred due to mandatory quarantine in a designated hotel or in a government approved or facilitated quarantine center up to the applicable limits of the MVHI Policy and according to the terms and conditions defined in the same, unless the Beneficiary has travelled to a location declared as not recommended for travel by the Competent local Authority.
- 8.5.3. In case of infection, the Beneficiary shall contact the Insurance Company immediately to request the necessary assistance.

# 9. Validity of Coverage under the Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance

The Start Date and End Date of any MVHI Policy shall be clearly referenced in the MVHI Policy documentation provided to every MVHI Beneficiary.

#### 9.1. **Refund Policy:**

Once an MVHI Beneficiary has activated his/her MVHI Policy by entering the State of Qatar, the MVHI is non-refundable, and the MVHI Policy cannot be transferred to any other person.

However, pursuant to paragraph (3) of Article No. (31) of the Regulation, the premium shall be refunded (fully or partially) by the Insurance Company, upon a written request



from the Visitor, only if the Entry Visa of a Visitor is cancelled, by the relevant authority who issued the Visit Visa.

#### 7.2. Period of Coverage for Multiple Entry:

The MVHI Policy shall come into effect upon the Visitor's arrival in the State of Qatar and remain in force for the designated duration commensurate to the Premium paid, for a minimum Coverage period of thirty [30] calendar days up to a maximum Coverage period of six [6] months from the Effective Date of the Policy. The Policy covers multiple entries and exits during the Period of Coverage as permissible as per the Visitor's entry visa to the State of Qatar.

#### **10. General Provisions**

- 10.1. Limitation of Action. If any dispute arises between any Health Insurance Company and a Beneficiary or Eligible Persons, or a healthcare provider legitimately participating in providing Covered benefits to Visitors, the concerned party and Insurance Company shall initially meet and negotiate in good faith to attempt to resolve the dispute. In case the parties are not able to resolve the dispute among themselves, the dispute shall be submitted in writing to the Director of HFID at the MOPH to arbitrate an amicable settlement. Any other dispute resolution procedure shall not be deployable unless and until the MOPH-HFID Complaints and Dispute Resolution Procedure has been exhausted.
- 10.2. If the dispute or conflict cannot be resolved amicably in accordance with the paragraph above, unless otherwise agreed between both parties, all disputes shall be referred to and adjudicated by the Qatar Courts, which shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with the Policy.
- 10.3. Any amendment to this Policy will be made by MOPH/HFID in accordance with the Law. No agent has the authority to change the Policy or to waive any of its provisions.
- 10.4. In the event of a modification/amendment of any of the terms of the Policy, all other terms and conditions, exclusions, limitations, and scope of services shall remain the same and unchanged.
- 10.5. Conformity with Statutes: Any MVHI Policy which on its Effective Date, conflicts with the requirements of any pertinent statutes or regulations in the State of Qatar shall be amended to conform to the minimum requirements of such statutes and regulations. The issuance of such a MVHI Policy, the provision of any Benefits specified by the Policy, and the payment of any



related claims are the sole responsibility of the contracted Insurance Company. The Insurance Company shall be liable for any violations of these responsibilities, or any other obligations stipulated in the Law and/or the Regulation, or any failure to comply with other relevant governmental statutes or regulations enforced in Qatar.



# **Appendix (1): MVHI Schedule of Benefits**

MANDATORY VISITOR HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFIT PACKAGE		
TERRITORY OF COVERAGE	Within the State of Qatar	
NETWORK TYPE	Public and Private Providers.	
WAITING PERIODS AND PRE-EXISITNG MEDICAL CONDITIONS	None	
ACCIDENT & EMERGENCY RELATED MEDICAL TREATMENT (AGGREGATE LIMIT)	Overall Aggregate Limit of QAR 150,000 Covering Accident and acute medical Emergency related treatment within the State of Qatar only.	
EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSISTANCE	Sublimit of QAR 35,000 covering emergency ambulance transport within the State of Qatar and Medical Evacuation to the individual's country of residence where Medically Necessary.	
REPATRIATION OF MORTAL REMAINS	Covered up to QAR 10,000 per person on the death of the Policyholder (Beneficiary) within the State of Qatar.	
COVID-19 COVERAGE		
SUB-LIMIT	Covered up to QAR 50,000 per person per Policy Period with no patient Cost sharing.	
INPATIENT TREATMENT	Covered up to the Sublimit for severe cases.	
OUTPATIENT TREATMENT	Covered up to the Sublimit.	
PHARMACY	Prescribed drugs covered up to Sublimit.	
QUARANTINE	Hotel Quarantine covered for up to ten [10] days, at a maximum cost of QAR 300 per day if home quarantine is not possible.	
COVID-19 SCREENING SERVICES	One rapid Antigen Test on day seven [7] of quarantine.	



# Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance Policy Wording

MANDATORY VISITOR HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFIT PACKAGE		
EXCLUSIONS SPECIFIC TO THE COVID-19 BENEFIT	<ol> <li>The following exclusions will be applied:</li> <li>Prophylactics, including masks, gloves, sanitiser.</li> <li>PCR or rapid antigen tests for asymptomatic individuals, close contacts, or travel purposes.</li> <li>Outpatient diagnostics other than those defined in the Schedule of Benefits.</li> <li>Quarantine costs for close contacts.</li> <li>Compulsory Quarantine on arrival due to vaccination status or country of departure.</li> <li>Post-hospitalisation rehabilitation.</li> <li>Healthcare services outside of the Coverage Period or related to conditions other than Covid-19.</li> </ol>	



# **Appendix (2) Standard MVHI Policy Exclusions**

Any Insurance Company providing the MVHI product shall not be liable to make payment for any claim directly or indirectly caused by, based on, arising out of or howsoever attributable to any of the following:

1.	Any non-Accident or acute medical Emergency-related "elective" healthcare services.
2.	Medical expenses incurred once the Accident or acute Emergency condition of the Beneficiary subsides or stabilization allowing discharge has been achieved.
3.	Dental treatment or surgery of any kind unless necessitated by acute Accident-related damage to permanent teeth requiring emergency repair, as specified in the MVHI Schedule of Benefits.
4.	Treatment of obesity, or intentional self-injury and conditions related to the use of intoxicating drugs/alcohol.
5.	Maternity services unless fall under the Emergency definition herein.
6.	Birth control procedures or hormone replacement therapy.
7.	Any fertility, sub-fertility, assisted conception, or sterility related procedures or medications.
8.	Cost of spectacles, laser surgery, contact lenses or hearing aids, or for issuance of medical certificates and conducting examinations as to suitability for employment or travel, licensing or insurance and related reports.
9.	Vitamins, Health supplements and tonics.
10.	Any treatment received in convalescent homes, convalescent hospitals, wellness or nature cure clinics or similar establishments.
11.	Vaccination and inoculation of any kind except for emergency vaccinations such as tetanus and rabies.
12.	Medical treatment required following any criminal act of the Beneficiary.
13.	Disease / illness / injury, directly or indirectly, caused by or arising from or attributable to war, foreign invasion, violent act of foreign enemies, hostilities (whether war be declared or not), civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection, military or usurped power, riot, strike, lockout, military or popular uprising or civil commotion, act of terrorism or any terrorist incident.



# Mandatory Visitor Health Insurance Policy Wording

14.	Prosthesis, corrective devices, and medical appliances, which are not required intra-operatively or for the disease/illness/injury, for which the Beneficiary was hospitalized.
15.	Any stay in Hospital without any treatment being undertaken or where no active Accident or medical Emergency related interventions are performed by the treating Medical Practitioner.
16.	Treatment of mental disease/illness, stress, psychiatric or psychological disorders or other conditions not specified as covered in the Schedule of Benefits.
17.	Aesthetic treatment, cosmetic and plastic surgery.
18.	Ionizing radiation or contamination by radioactivity from any nuclear fuel or from any nuclear waste resulting from the combustion of nuclear fuel. Disease, illness, injury, directly or indirectly, caused by or contributed to by nuclear weapons/materials or radioactive contamination.
19.	Natural Disasters or calamities including but not limited to pandemics, as declared by the State of Qatar.
20.	Charges incurred for diagnostic, X-ray or laboratory examinations or other diagnostic studies not consistent with or directly relevant to the Accident or acute medical Emergency condition diagnosis and treatment thereof.
21.	Cost incurred for medicines, which are not under the advice of the Medical Practitioner, and which are not consistent with or incidental to the Accident or Emergency condition's diagnosis and treatment or delivered by persons not registered as Medical Practitioners with the MoPH of Qatar.
22.	Alternative treatments (such as, but not limited to Hijama, Ayurveda, Homeopathy, Unani, Herbal Medicine, Naturopathy treatment and similar kind of practices).
23.	Experimental and unproven treatments.
24.	Medical treatment availed to any Beneficiary engaging in speed contest or racing of any kind (other than on foot) like but not limited to bungee jumping, parasailing, dune bashing, ballooning, parachuting, skydiving, paragliding, hang-gliding, mountain, or rock climbing necessitating the use of guides or ropes, potholing, abseiling, deep sea diving using hard helmet and breathing apparatus, polo, snow ice sports or any other activity considered as hazardous sport.
25.	All substances, that are not considered as medicines, such as but not restricted to mouthwash, toothpaste, lozenges, antiseptics, children milk



	formulas, skin care products and shampoos, and all equipment not primarily used to improve a medical condition or injury.
26.	Any health services and associated expenses for dandruff, wigs, or toupees.
27.	In association with outpatient visits to, or inpatient stays at network providers, any fees for non-medical "hotel services" for personal comfort or convenience, or services such as, but not restricted to provision of telephone or television, visits to hairdressers or beauty services, guest services, parking fees or similar incidental services or supplies. Patient's testing positive for Covid-19 during their stay in Qatar shall be exempted from this clause and shall be covered for essential outpatient treatment and Hotel quarantine.
28.	Spa treatments, recreational treatment, and physical fitness programs.
29.	Treatment of sexual dysfunction/impotence – decreased libido, erectile dysfunction.
30.	Any kind of medical treatment or investigation that is not related to a Beneficiary's Accident or medical Emergency related condition.
31.	Pre-existing medical conditions and congenital anomalies are not covered under this MVHI. However, any acute exacerbation of a chronic disease necessitating Emergency intervention shall be covered.
32.	Expense of the repatriation of mortal remains to other country than the Beneficiary's home country.
33.	The Insurance Company shall not be responsible for claims arising:
	<ul> <li>a. In case of double insurance, i.e., if the same interest is covered in respect of the same risk and for the same period by more than one insurer such that the combined sums insured exceed the insurance value, the Beneficiary is required to inform the Insurance Company of this fact in writing and without delay.</li> <li>b. If the Beneficiary has intentionally omitted notifying the Insurance Company of this fact or if he has taken out double insurance with a view the abtaining and illipit another here a dained the Insurance Company of the Insurance with a view</li> </ul>
	to obtaining an illicit profit by so doing, the Insurance Company shall henceforth automatically be relieved of any contractual obligation to cover double-insured medical services